THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2015-002459

---

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent,

v.

DEBRA LYNNE SHERIDAN,

Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

RECEIVED

JUL 31 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Willie J. Peters, Esq.  
Darren S. Haley, Esq.  
The Haley Law Firm, LLC  
1007 Pendleton Street  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 235-6638 (ph)  
(864) 370-1201 (fax)  
Attorneys for Appellant

##

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- (1) Did the trial court err in denying Appellant's motion to dismiss the charges, because the warrantless search conducted by the Anderson County Sheriff's Department was invalid?
- (2) Did the trial court err in not finding that the Respondent's wellness check was improper, because it amounted to an unconstitutional invasion of privacy, and the Respondent lacked the required reasonable suspicion?
- (3) Did the trial court err in finding that the Agreement was valid?
- (4) If the Court determines that the Agreement is valid, did the trial court err in finding that the warrantless search and arrest were valid, even though Appellant was arrested before the deadline to comply with the Agreement?
- (5) Did the trial court err in admitting State's Exhibits 18 through 27?
- (6) Did the trial court err by denying Appellant's motion for directed verdict regarding the rabies tag violation?
- (7) Did the trial court abuse its discretion by sentencing that Appellant could no longer operate an animal shelter?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from Anderson County General Sessions. Prior to the case that gave rise to this appeal, Appellant operated a successful animal shelter in Anderson County, South Carolina, which she had been running since 2004. R. p. 222, lines 1-3. Appellant's animal shelter was one of the largest in South Carolina, and she has rescued and placed over five thousand animals during the time that she was operating her shelter. R. p. 222, lines 4-9. Due to the fact that she never turned away an animal, Appellant often cared for severely ill and abused animals.

In 2014, Appellant was charged with Ill Treatment of Animals in Anderson County, South Carolina. On or about January 14, 2015, Assistant Solicitor, Thomas W. Dunaway, IV, signed a document titled "Agreement," (hereinafter, "Agreement") which was witnessed by The Honorable Nancy W. Devine, Anderson County Chief Magistrate Judge. State's Exhibit 33. Appellant did not sign the Agreement. R. p. 13, lines 22-25; R. p. 14, lines 1-7. The Agreement states, in pertinent part, "[b]y agreement of the all parties dated January 13, 2015 it is hereby agreed as follows:...That Debra Lynne Sheridan shall have until June 15, 2016 to obtain legal permits to construct a 75' feet by 75' feet warehouse structure with concrete floors and proper drainage to operate an animal rescue organization with routine and random welfare checks to be conducted by the Anderson County Sheriff's Office or any other law enforcement agency with jurisdiction to ensure compliance with any and all state and County Ordinances that relate to the care and treatment of animals." State's Exhibit 33.

On or about March 18, 2015, several deputies from the Anderson County Sheriff's Department arrived at Appellant's house, claiming to be acting under the authority of a court ordered wellness check, outlined in the Agreement. R. p. 19, lines 24-25; R. p. 20, line 1. The deputies had neither a search warrant, nor an arrest warrant. Appellant was arrested, and charged

with sixty counts of ill treatment of animals; fifty-four counts of no proof of rabies for failing to have proper rabies identification tags attached to fifty-four animals; and possession of methamphetamine. Approximately sixty of Appellant's animals were seized. R. p. 20, lines 9-10.

On November 19, 2016 and November 20, 2016, a jury trial was held before the Honorable Scott Sprouse. On November 20, 2016, the jury found Appellant guilty of fifty-four counts of rabies control violation; guilty of possession of methamphetamine; and not guilty on all counts of ill treatment of animals. R. p. 348, lines 2-20. Regarding the possession of methamphetamine charge, the trial court sentenced Appellant to confinement Department of Corrections for three (3) years, suspended on the service of three days with probation for five years, and one hundred (100) hours of public service. Special conditions of probation were substance abuse counseling, random drug and alcohol testing and prohibition of Appellant from operating a rescue shelter, or any shelter, for animals. R. p. 355, lines 18-25; R. p. 356, line 1. Regarding the rabies control violations, the trial court sentenced Appellant to six hundred and twenty (620) days confinement to the Department of Corrections, suspended on service of three (3) days, probation for five (5) years, and the same special conditions as the methamphetamine charge. R. p. 356, lines 2-10. The sentences were to run concurrently. R. p. 356, line 11. On or about November 24, 2015, Appellant, through counsel, filed a timely appeal of the conviction for the rabies control violation convictions, and the possession of methamphetamine conviction.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS, BECAUSE THE WARRANTLESS SEARCH CONDUCTED BY THE ANDERSON COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT WAS INVALID.**

“The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. “Evidence seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment must be excluded from trial. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 620 S.E.2d 737, 740 (2005). Generally, a warrantless search is *per se* unreasonable and violates the Fourth Amendment prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures.” Id. Nonetheless, a warrantless search may nonetheless be proper under the Fourth Amendment if it falls within one of the well-established exceptions to the warrant requirement. State v. Moore, 377 S.C. 299, 308–09, 659 S.E.2d 256, 261 (Ct.App.2008). “These exceptions include ...: (1) search incident to a lawful arrest; (2) hot pursuit; (3) stop and frisk; (4) automobile exception; (5) the plain view doctrine; (6) consent; and (7) abandonment.” State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 89, 736 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2012). Furthermore, if police officers are following their standard procedures, they may inventory impounded property without obtaining a warrant. See Colorado v. Bertine, 479 U.S. 367, 372–73, 107 S.Ct. 738, 93 L.Ed.2d 739 (1987). In order to make effective the fundamental constitutional guarantees of sanctity of the home and inviolability of the person ... the United States Supreme Court held ... that evidence seized during an unlawful search could not constitute proof against the victim of the search. Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 484, 83 S.Ct. 407, 9 L.Ed.2d 441 (1963). Furthermore, the exclusionary prohibition extends to the indirect as the direct products of such invasions. Id. at 484. “The ‘fruit of the poisonous

tree' doctrine provides that evidence must be excluded if it would not have come to light but for the illegal actions of the police, and the evidence has been obtained by the exploitation of that illegality." *Id.* at 488. "Anonymous tips...are generally less reliable than tips from known informants and can form the basis for reasonable suspicion only if accompanied by specific indicia of reliability, for example, the correct forecast of a subject's "not easily predicted" movements." *Florida v. J.L.*, 529 U.S. 266, 269, 120 S.Ct. 1375, 1378, 146 L.Ed.2d 254 (2000). At trial, Appellant's attorney moved to dismiss all charges due to the lack of a search warrant. R. p. 11, lines 13-25. The trial judge denied said motion. R. p. 16, lines 21-25; R. p. 17, lines 1-4.

As previously stated, several Anderson County deputies arrived at Appellant's house on March 18, 2015. R. p. 11, lines 21-24; R. p. 53, lines 8-18. When the deputies arrived, they told Appellant that they were operating under a "court ordered wellness check." R. p. 11, lines 17-18; R. p. 51, lines 22-24. The deputies had neither a search warrant, nor an arrest warrant. The deputies searched Appellant's residence, confiscated her animals, and arrested her without a warrant. By the time the deputies arrived, news helicopters were already circling the area, and filming the incident. R. p. 50, lines 11-18.

There are no applicable exceptions to validate Respondent's warrantless search. The deputies were not operating under a search incident to a lawful arrest, because the deputies lacked probable cause or reasonable suspicion to perform a lawful arrest. Allegedly, the deputies decided to go to Appellant's residence after they received "a couple of anonymous tips." R. p. 12, lines 16-18. However, the Respondent offered no evidence showing the reliability of the alleged anonymous tips. Since the officers relied on the anonymous tips, and nothing more, they lacked reasonable suspicion to conduct the warrantless search. As the deputies performed the warrantless search at Appellant's home, and Appellant never attempted to flee, the exceptions for

hot pursuit, stop and frisk, and automobiles do not apply. Appellant never consented to the warrantless search. Indeed, Appellant never had the opportunity to consent to the search, because the deputies immediately informed Appellant that they were operating pursuant to a court ordered wellness check, giving her the reasonable belief that she did not have the power to consent to the search. Moreover, as the search was performed at Appellant's residence, the exceptions for abandonment, and automobiles exception are not applicable.

“Under the ‘plain view’ exception to the warrant requirement, objects falling within the plain view of a law enforcement officer who is rightfully in a position to view the objects are subject to seizure and may be introduced as evidence.” State v. Beckham, 334 S.C. 302, 317, 513 S.E.2d 606 (S.C., 1999). Consistent with federal law prior to 1990, South Carolina case law regarding the plain view exception requires: (1) the initial intrusion which afforded the authorities the plain view was lawful; (2) the discovery of the evidence was inadvertent; and (3) the incriminating nature of the evidence was immediately apparent to the seizing authorities. Id. at 317, 613. As previously stated, Respondent conducted the search without a warrant. Furthermore, Respondent neither had probable cause nor reasonable suspicion to enter Appellant's residence. Since no warrant was obtained, and there is no applicable exception, the search was invalid, and in violation of the Fourth Amendment against unreasonable searches and seizures. But for the illegal, warrantless search by the deputies, the evidence used to charge Appellant would not have come to light. Consequently, all evidence obtained from said search is fruit of a poisonous tree, and is invalid. Therefore, the trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion to dismiss the charges, because the deputies' warrantless search was invalid.

**II. THE RESPONDENT'S WARRANTLESS SEARCH WAS IMPROPER, BECAUSE IT AMOUNTED TO AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL INVASION OF PRIVACY, AND THE RESPONDENT LACKED THE REQUIRED REASONABLE SUSPICION.**

The South Carolina Constitution provides citizens an express right to privacy. S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. "South Carolina and five other states have their right to privacy provision included in the section prohibiting unreasonable search and seizures," which in turn "creates a distinct privacy right that applies both within and outside the search and seizure context." State v. Forrester, 541 S.E.2d 837, 343 S.C. 637, 644 (S.C., 2001). Consequently, the South Carolina Supreme Court concluded that "[t]he South Carolina Constitution, with an express right to privacy provision included in the article prohibiting unreasonable searches and seizures, favors an interpretation offering a higher level of privacy protection than the Fourth Amendment." Id. at 645, 541 S.E.2d at 841. "Our state constitution's provision protecting unreasonable invasions of privacy necessarily requires some analysis of the privacy interests involved when a warrantless seizure is made on private property." State v. Weaver, 649 S.E.2d 479, 485, 374 S.C. 313 (S.C., 2007). Because the privacy interests in one's home are the most sacrosanct, we believe there must be some threshold evidentiary basis for law enforcement to approach a private residence. Otherwise, we foresee the potential for abuse if law enforcement targets a neighborhood and indiscriminately knocks on doors with the hope of discovering contraband without a search warrant. State v. Counts, 413 S.C. 153, 776 S.E.2d 59, 69 (S.C., 2015). A "welfare check" is not a criminal investigative technique. Id. As its name implies, a "welfare check" is conducted by law enforcement based upon concern for a person's welfare not to inquire about illegal activity at the residence. Id.

In the present matter, Anderson County deputies drove onto Appellant's property, and entered her home without a warrant. As previously stated, the deputies' only purported authority

for this act was that they were acting under the authority of a court ordered wellness check. R. p. 51, lines 22-25. Despite lacking a warrant, or Appellant's consent, the deputies entered Appellant's home, and searched her residence, and her person. This was an overt, and extreme abuse of power. As the location of the warrantless search was Appellant's residence, Appellant's expectation of privacy was exceedingly high. As stated above, the South Carolina Constitution affords a higher level of privacy than the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution. The deputies grossly misused a mechanism that was intended to be a means to check on the health and well-being of people. Instead, the deputies chose go against this well-established purpose to conduct a criminal investigation under the guise of a wellness check.

The only alleged reason provided for the deputies to perform the wellness check was that the deputies received an anonymous call. The United States Supreme Court has held that reasonable suspicion based solely on a call made from an unknown location by an unknown caller lacked sufficient indicia of reliability to make an investigatory stop. Florida v. J.L., 529 U.S. 266, 120 S.Ct. 1375, 146 L.Ed.2d 254 (2000). "Anonymous tips...are generally less reliable than tips from known informants and can form the basis for reasonable suspicion only if accompanied by specific indicia of reliability, for example, the correct forecast of a subject's "not easily predicted" movements." Id. at 269.

Despite the fact that the only reason Respondent provided for going out to Appellant's home was that Respondent received an anonymous tip, Respondent failed to provide any evidence of the reliability of the anonymous informant. No evidence was given to suggest that the alleged anonymous informant was even remotely reliable. Thus, there was no threshold evidentiary basis for the deputies to approach and enter Appellant's residence. As stated above, the South Carolina Supreme Court wanted to guard against law enforcement abuse carried out by

unreasonable warrantless searches. In light of the high level of privacy that the South Carolina Constitution affords to its residents, the Respondent's actions in this present case fall short of the prerequisites to perform a valid search. Since the Respondent lacked the required reasonable suspicion to conduct a warrantless search at Appellant's residence, the Respondent's search amounted to an invasion of Appellant's privacy afforded by the United States and South Carolina constitutions.

### **III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE AGREEMENT WAS VALID.**

South Carolina common law requires that, in order to have a valid and enforceable contract, there must be a meeting of the minds between the parties with regard to all essential and material terms of the agreement. Hughes v. Edwards, 265 S.C. 529, 535, 220 S.E.2d 231, 234 (1975). To satisfy the Statute of Frauds, every essential element of the contract must be expressed in a writing signed by the party to be compelled. Cash v. Maddox, 265 S.C. 480, 484, 220 S.E.2d 121, 122 (1975); Speed v. Speed, 213 S.C. 401, 49 S.E.2d 588, 589 (1948). "The 'meeting of minds' required to make a contract is not based on secret purpose or intention on the part of one of the parties, stored away in his mind and not brought to the attention of the other party, but must be based on purpose and intention which has been made known or which, from all the circumstances, should be known." Player v. Chandler, 299 S.C. 101, 105, 382 S.E.2d 891, 894 (1989). "The intention of the parties should be determined from the surrounding circumstances, as well as from the testimony of all the witnesses; and subsequent acts are relevant to show whether a contract was intended." Wright v. Trask, 329 S.C. 170, 178, 495 S.E.2d 222, 226 (Ct.App.1997). In order to satisfy the statute of frauds, there must be a writing signed by the party against whom enforcement is sought, and "the writings must establish the essential terms of the contract without resort to parol evidence." Cash v. Maddox, 265 S.C. 480,

484, 220 S.E.2d 121, 122 (1975) (citing Barr v. Lyle, 263 S.C. 426, 430, 211 S.E.2d 232, 234 (1975)).

In 2014, Appellant was charged with ill treatment of animals in Anderson County Summary Court, as shown in Warrant Numbers: 2014A0410100120, and 2014A0410100121. On or about January 14, 2015, a hearing was held in the Anderson County Summary Court. The recording of the hearing has since malfunctioned, and is currently unavailable. R. p. 15, lines 20-24. Subsequently, the Agreement was signed by the assistant solicitor, and the presiding magistrate judge. State's Exhibit 33. The Agreement provides that terms provided therein were agreed-upon by "all parties." Under this purported agreement, Appellant was required to do the following: (1) "relinquish all rights to any and all animals now in the custody of the Anderson County P.A.W.S. (Pets Are Worth Saving) effective January 14, 2015"; (2) within ten days from January 14, 2015, "to have a person who is licensed by the South Carolina Labor, Licensing and Regulation Board in the area of Perpetual Care to take the remains of a Pomeranian taken from the property of [Appellant] on February 5, 2014 and properly bury or cremate the same"; (3) Appellant "shall have until June 15, 2016 to obtain legal permits to construct a 75 feet by 75 feet warehouse structure with concrete floors and proper drainage to operate an animal rescue organization with routine and random welfare checks to be conducted by the Anderson County Sheriff's Office or any other law enforcement agency with jurisdiction to ensure compliance with any and all State and County Ordinances that relate to the care and treatment of animals." State's Exhibit 33. The Agreement further provides that, upon the satisfaction of these conditions, then the Solicitor will dismiss the charges. State's Exhibit 33. The signature portion of this document shows that it was signed by Assistant Solicitor, Thomas W. Dunaway, IV, and Anderson County Chief Magistrate Judge, Nancy W. Devine. State's Exhibit 33. Despite the

fact that the Agreement states that it was agreed-upon by all parties, Appellant never signed the Agreement. Furthermore, Appellant never agreed to the Agreement's terms, and played no role in the drafting of the Agreement.

As previously stated, the deputies that arrested Appellant stated that they were operating according to a "court ordered wellness check," which is provided in the Agreement. While this document does provide that officers may perform wellness checks, the document ultimately fails as an enforceable contract, because there was no meeting of the minds, and Appellant never signed the document, or agreed to its terms. It is a fundamental doctrine of contract law that all parties to an agreement are on one accord, and there is a meeting of the minds shared by all parties. The Agreement provides that the terms of the document were agreed-upon by all parties. However, Appellant's signature does not appear on the Agreement. Only the Solicitor, and Magistrate's signatures are present on the document.

**IV. IF THE COURT DETERMINES THAT THE AGREEMENT IS VALID, THEN THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT FINDING THAT RESPONDENT BREACHED THE AGREEMENT, BECAUSE THE WARRANTLESS SEARCH AND ARREST OCCURRED BEFORE APPELLANT'S DEADLINE TO COMPLY WITH THE AGREEMENT.**

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