ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-002459

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

DEBRA LYNNE SHERIDAN,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

RANEE SAUNDERS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID R. WAGNER
Solicitor, Tenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 8002
Anderson, SC 29622
(864) 260-4046

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
JUL 28 2015
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-002459

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

ARGUMENTS

I.

The trial court properly declined to dismiss Appellant's charges based on an invalid search because Appellant never argued the search violated her rights under either the United States Constitution or the South Carolina Constitution, the search was legal, and the relief sought is improper.¹

Appellant argues law enforcement violated her right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures and her right to privacy by performing a warrantless search of her property. Appellant's arguments are unpreserved and without merit.

At the outset, Appellant faces a number of procedural prohibitions to her argument. Primarily, this argument is unpreserved. Appellant makes no reference to either constitution in her motion prior to trial, instead focusing on the validity of the Agreement. A defendant may not assert one ground at trial and another on appeal. *State v. Haselden*, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003). Because this argument was not expounded at trial, the trial court never ruled on the constitutionality of the search and therefore there is nothing for this Court to review. *See State v. Woodruff*, 300 S.C. 265, 266 n.1, 387 S.E.2d 453, 454 n.1 (1989) ("Matters not passed upon by the trial court will not be reviewed.").

Furthermore, Appellant's requested relief is not cognizable under any jurisprudence she cites, and certainly not under case law addressing unreasonable searches or seizures. The judicially constructed remedy for law enforcement's encroachment of that constitutional right is the exclusion of evidence—not the dismissal of charges. *State v. Brown*, 401 S.C. 82, 88, 736 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2012) ("The Fourth Amendment itself provides no remedy for a violation of the warrant requirement. However, the United States Supreme Court has fashioned a judicially-created remedy, the exclusionary rule, which is a deterrent sanction by which the prosecution is

¹ For concision, the State addresses Appellant's first four arguments collectively.

barred from introducing evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment.”) (citations omitted). Accordingly, even if Appellant were to prevail on the merits, she is not entitled to the requested relief.

Finally, even generously converting this argument to a suppression request, Appellant fails to articulate the specific evidence she wishes to suppress or how admission of that evidence prejudiced her. To the extent Appellant objects to the admission of the methamphetamine, this evidence was ultimately admitted at trial without objection. (R.132.) Absent a contemporaneous objection at the time of admission, this argument is unpreserved. *State v. Johnson*, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005) (“To preserve an issue for review there must be a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court.”). Further, Appellant testified the dogs did not wear their rabies tags in direct violation of the statute. Therefore, any other evidence adduced which would be relevant to those convictions is merely cumulative.

Moreover, Appellant’s argument fails substantively. Although Appellant makes much of whether the Agreement complies with contract law, it is evident that the officers were acting under the belief that the search was authorized by court order. The ultimate inquiry is not the veracity of this belief, but the reasonableness of the belief. Here, it was patently reasonable for the officers to believe they had permission to search Appellant’s property and, therefore, the search was not violative of either constitution.

“On appeal from a motion to suppress on Fourth Amendment grounds, this Court applies a deferential standard of review and will reverse only if there is clear error.” *Robinson v. State*, 407 S.C. 168, 180–81, 754 S.E.2d 863, 868 (2014). “The ‘clear error’ standard means that an appellate court will not reverse a trial court’s finding of fact simply because it would have decided the case differently.” *State v. Pichardo*, 367 S.C. 84, 96, 623 S.E.2d 840, 846 (Ct. App.

2005). Instead, the Court will “affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.” *State v. Brockman*, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000).

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution secures the right of the people to be secure against unreasonable search and seizure. U.S. Const. amend. IV. “In parallel with the protection of the Fourth Amendment, the South Carolina Constitution also provides a safeguard against unlawful searches and seizures.” *State v. Counts*, 413 S.C. 153, 164, 776 S.E.2d 59, 65 (2015). “The touchstone of [an] analysis under the Fourth Amendment is always ‘the reasonableness in all the circumstances of the particular governmental invasion of a citizen’s personal security.’” *Pennsylvania v. Mimms*, 434 U.S. 106, 108–09 (1977) (per curiam) (quoting *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S.1, 19 (1968)). Warrantless searches and seizures are per se unreasonable absent a recognized exception. *State v. Bruce*, 412 S.C. 504, 510, 772 S.E.2d 753, 756 (2015). “[O]ne of the specifically established exceptions to the requirements of both a warrant and probable cause is a search that is conducted pursuant to consent.” *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 219 (1973).

“[T]o satisfy the ‘reasonableness’ requirement of the Fourth Amendment, what is generally demanded of the many factual determinations that must regularly be made by agents of the government—whether the magistrate issuing a warrant, the police officer executing a warrant, or the police officer conducting a search or seizure under one of the exceptions to the warrant requirement—is not that they always be correct, but that they always be reasonable.” *Illinois v. Rodriguez*, 497 U.S. 177, 185 (1990). The rationale underpinning this conclusion is that “to be reasonable is not to be perfect, and so the Fourth Amendment allows for some mistakes on the part of government officials, giving them fair leeway for enforcing the law in the community’s protection.” *Héien v. North Carolina*, 135 S. Ct. 530, 536 (2014) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Here, the officers conducted their search pursuant to what they believed was the previously given consent of Appellant. Regardless of the contractual validity of the Agreement, it states the findings by the magistrate, including that the document was entered into “[b]y agreement of all parties.” (*Agreement.) Within the language of the Agreement, law enforcement is authorized to conduct “routine and random welfare checks” on Appellant’s property. (*Agreement.) That officers believed this document—signed by a magistrate judge and attesting to the agreement of both parties—provided consent for the intrusion, is objectively reasonable. For the purposes of constitutional inquiry, it does not matter whether this conclusion was ultimately incorrect and Appellant never intended to convey consent.² As the trial court observed in denying Appellant’s motion to dismiss: “[Y]ou’ve got a document signed by a magistrate. It’s titled agreement. But it appears to me that this was a hearing. And it appears to me the case was taken off the docket because of the provisions that were signed by the magistrate.” (R.16.) The trial court therefore based its ruling on its conclusion that this appeared to be a legally binding document. It would be absurd to hold an officer to a different standard of reasonableness. The Fourth Amendment requires nothing more and there is no indication our state constitution ignores apparent consent as a valid exception to the warrant requirement.³

² Appellant also argues on appeal that the trial court erred in finding the Agreement was valid and alternatively erred in failing to find the State breached the Agreement by not affording Appellant the time indicated in the agreement to comply with its terms. (*See* Appellant’s III & IV Issue on Appeal.) These arguments are unpreserved. The trial court never held the Agreement was a valid contract and clarified that Appellant was “not on trial for violating the magistrate court’s conditions.” Further, the underlying validity is immaterial. The question is whether the police officers were reasonable in relying on it as a basis for their search.

³ Although the *Counts* decision did not expressly recognize consent as an exception to Article I, Section 10 to the South Carolina Constitution, in concluding the intrusion was not consensual, it tacitly acknowledged that had the encounter been consensual, no constitutional violation would occur. *See Counts*, 413 S.C. at 172, 776 S.E.2d at 69–70 (“Although the State maintains these encounters are entirely consensual, we cannot ignore the nature of the ‘knock and talk’

II.

Regardless of the admissibility of the photographs, Appellant was not prejudiced by their admission because she was not convicted of ill-treatment of animals.

At the outset, it is curious Appellant would appeal the admission of the photographs because they could only be germane to the charges on the ill-treatment of animals—charges for which she was ultimately acquitted. The photos have no bearing on whether the animals were properly tagged or whether she was in possession of methamphetamines. Accordingly, she can demonstrate no prejudice. *State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (noting error only requires reversal where defendant can prove prejudice). Furthermore, her challenge fails on the merits.

“The trial judge is given broad discretion in ruling on questions concerning the relevancy of evidence, and his decision will be reversed only if there is a clear abuse of discretion.” *State v. Alexander*, 303 S.C. 377, 380, 401 S.E.2d 146, 148 (1991). “Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or to make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears.” *State v. Schmidt*, 288 S.C. 301, 303, 342 S.E.2d 401, 403 (1986). Additionally, “[a] trial court has particularly wide discretion in ruling on Rule 403 objections.” *State v. Gray*, 408 S.C. 601, 608, 759 S.E.2d 160, 164 (Ct. App. 2014). Under Rule 403, SCRE, “evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice”

The photos were relevant to the charge of ill-treatment of animals. The basis for Appellant’s challenge is that the State failed to prove the animals were ever in the mobile home, and even though animal feces was observed inside, the State failed to demonstrate the feces was

procedure. In contrast to a routine sales call, the ‘knock and talk’ technique is inherently coercive as it is conducted by law enforcement and not a private citizen.”).

not from wild animals. These perceived flaws in the value of the evidence are excellent fodder for cross-examination but do not render the evidence irrelevant. It is absurd to suggest the State needed to prove the species which contributed fecal matter inside the mobile home to manifest probative value. It would be a reasonable inference that the animals were permitted to enter the mobile home and Appellant testifying to the contrary merely makes that a question of fact. It does not negate the inference as a matter of law. Additionally, the photos are not so inflammatory that the prejudice substantially outweighed the probative value. Many of the unchallenged photographs are similarly unpleasant. More importantly, Appellant was ultimately acquitted of ill-treatment of animals, so the claim the photos were highly prejudicial falls short. Accordingly, the trial court did not err in allowing the photographs of the mobile home into evidence.

III.

The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for directed verdict on the rabies tag violations because evidence existed Appellant failed to place the tags on her dogs.

Appellant asserts the trial court should have directed a verdict in her favor on the rabies tag violations because she maintained the rabies certificates and her decision not to keep tags on the animals was made for their safety. Essentially, she contends her violation is merely technical and widespread, and therefore forgivable. This claim is not a cognizable tenet of criminal law. Appellant cites to no law supporting her contention and instead merely notes the directed verdict standard of review and the statute she violated. Her argument is therefore abandoned and not preserved for review. *First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994) (“Appellant fails to provide arguments or supporting authority for his assertion. Thus, he is deemed to have abandoned this issue.”). Regardless, Appellant's argument fails on the merits.

When reviewing the denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court views the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. *State v. Bennett*, 415 S.C. 232, 235, 781 S.E.2d 352, 353 (2016). “The Court's review is limited to considering the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight.” *Id.* “If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.” *State v. Cherry*, 361 S.C. 588, 593–94, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004).

Evidence was adduced, in the form of testimony by officers and Appellant, that the dogs did not have rabies tags on their collars. The statute expressly states:

With the issuance of the certificate, the licensed veterinarian shall furnish a serially numbered metal license tag bearing the same number and year as the certificate with the name and telephone number of the veterinarian, veterinary hospital, or practice. *The metal license tag at all times must be attached to a*

collar or harness worn by the pet for which the certificate and tag have been issued.

S.C. Code Ann. § 47-5-60 (emphasis added). It is immaterial that other shelters may similarly be in violation of the law. While the reasoning undergirding her violation may have been taken into consideration in mitigation after her conviction, others' disregard for a law does not change her culpability under the law. If Appellant dislikes the statutory provisions provided by the Legislature, it is with that body she must lodge her complaint—not with the Court. *See State v. Sweat*, 386 S.C. 339, 351, 688 S.E.2d 569, 575 (2010) (“A statute should be so construed that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous.”); *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000) (“Where the statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.”). Accordingly, the trial court properly denied Appellant’s motion for a directed verdict.

IV.

Appellant incorrectly alleges the trial court's sentence prevents her from ever operating an animal shelter as it was actually mandated as a term of probation within the trial court's discretion.

Appellant argues the trial court's including in its sentence a prohibition on operating an animal shelter constitutes cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. This argument is unpreserved and predicated on a mistake of fact.

Initially, Appellant never objected to the sentence at trial or in a post-trial motion and therefore this issue is unpreserved. *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693–94 (2003) (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.”). More fundamentally, the trial court did not sentence Appellant to a lifelong ban from running an animal shelter. This is clear from the transcript and the sentencing sheets. (R. 355–356, R. 537-540.) The prohibition is a term of the probation and thus will end at the successful completion of her probationary period. To the extent the Court wishes to construe her argument as a challenge to her probation, her argument fails on the merits.

Trial courts “are allowed a wide, but not unlimited, discretion in imposing conditions of suspension or probation” *State v. Brown*, 284 S.C. 407, 410, 326 S.E.2d 410, 411 (1985). “Various conditions of probation generally have been upheld unless (1) the condition is so unreasonable or overly broad that compliance is virtually impossible and the burden imposed on the probationer is greatly disproportionate to any rehabilitative function the condition might serve; (2) the condition has no relationship to the crime of which the offender was convicted; (3) the condition requires or forbids conduct which is not reasonably related to future criminality; (4)

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